
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

         

DONALD HALL AND MARIA HALL, on : 

behalf of  themselves and all others similarly : 

situated,      : No. ___________  

    : 

Plaintiffs,   :            

                                                                     : 

v.      :            

         :           CLASS ACTION 

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, : 

INC.,                 :            

Defendant.    :            

                                                                         : 

 

COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiffs Donald and Maria Hall, for their complaint against defendant Nationstar 

Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (“Nationstar”), allege as follows: 

I. Introduction 

1. This is a class action arising from Nationstar’s role as the servicer of certain 

mortgage loans and its practice of failing to credit payments made by mortgage borrowers on 

these loans.  As a result, Nationstar continually overstates the outstanding mortgage balances on 

communications with the borrowers on these loans, including on monthly mortgage statements 

and on annual tax and interest statements.   

2.  Prior to being serviced by Nationstar, the mortgage loans at issue in this case 

were serviced by Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”), which deemed the loans to be in 

default when it acquired their servicing rights.  Bank of America itself had acquired the servicing 
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of these mortgage loans from Wilshire Credit Corporation (“Wilshire”), which also deemed these 

loans to be in default when it transferred their servicing to Bank of America.
1
 

3. Thus, Plaintiffs and Class members are borrowers whose mortgage loans were 

serviced by Wilshire, subsequently serviced by Bank of America, and later serviced by 

Nationstar.   

4. After their loans were deemed in default by Wilshire, Wilshire failed to fully 

credit payments made by Plaintiffs and Class members on their mortgage loans. 

5. Bank of America, after assuming the servicing of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ 

mortgage loans, did not correct Wilshire’s failures to credit mortgage payments and, indeed, 

continued Wilshire’s practice of failing to credit payments made by Plaintiffs and Class 

members. 

6. Upon information and belief, because they deemed Plaintiffs’ and Class 

members’ mortgage loans to be in default, both Wilshire and Bank of America placed payments 

made by Plaintiffs and class members into accounts separate from the their mortgage loan 

accounts.  These separate accounts were sometimes referred to as “suspense accounts.”  

However, both Wilshire and Bank of America failed to subsequently credit all of these 

“suspense” payments to Plaintiffs’ and Class members outstanding mortgage balances, i.e. 

Wilshire and Bank of America’s systems treated many of these payments as if they had never 

been made with respect to Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ mortgage loan accounts. 

7. As a result of not crediting payments by borrowers deemed to be in default, both 

Wilshire and Bank of America continually overstated the outstanding mortgage balances on 

                                                 
1
 Bank of America acquired Merrill Lynch, which owned Wilshire, in or around January 2009.  

Accordingly, Wilshire was a unit of Bank of America since in or around January 2009.  Bank of 

America subsequently assumed servicing of the Wilshire mortgage portfolio in or around 

February 2010. 
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communications with the borrowers on these loans, including on monthly mortgage statements 

and on annual tax and interest statements.  At the time Bank of America transferred the servicing 

rights of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ mortgage loans to subsequent servicers, including 

Nationstar, these payments remained uncredited.     

8. Consequently, the overstated mortgage balances which Wilshire and Bank of 

America reported on Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ mortgage loans were embedded when the 

servicing of these loans was transferred to Nationstar.   

9. Nationstar failed to identify or correct Wilshire and Bank of America’s mistakes 

and has continued to overstate the outstanding principal balances on Plaintiffs’ and Class 

members’ mortgage loans in communications with Plaintiffs and Class members, including on 

monthly mortgage statements and on annual tax and interest statements.   

10. Plaintiffs have filed this case as a class action, seeking actual and statutory 

damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs for a class of similarly situated persons who, like them, have 

been subjected to illegal debt collection activities. 

II.  Jurisdiction and Venue 

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because 

Plaintiff raises claims under a federal statute.  The Court also has subject matter jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1332(d)(2), since there are at least hundreds, if not thousands, of Class 

members in the proposed Classes (which are defined below), the combined claims of proposed 

Class members exceed $5,000,000 exclusive of interest and costs, and the Class members are 

citizens of states other than Defendants’ states of citizenship.  

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because a substantial portion 

of the wrongdoing alleged in this Complaint took place in this District, Defendant is authorized 
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to do business in this District, Defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with this District, 

and/or Defendant intentionally avails itself of markets in this District through the promotion, 

marketing and sale of its products and services to render the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court 

permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. 

13.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) because the 

named Plaintiffs reside here, because Defendant has hundreds, if not thousands, of customers in 

this District, because Defendant receives substantial fees from Borrowers in this District, and 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this 

District. 

III. Parties 

14. Plaintiffs Donald and Maria Hall, a married couple, are Pennsylvania 

homeowners residing in Perkasie, Pennsylvania. 

15. Defendant Nationstar is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Coppell, Texas.  

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Mortgage Servicing 

16. Over the last decade in the United States, many residential mortgage loans were 

sold into a secondary market system known as “securitization.”  Mortgages purchased by the 

secondary market purchaser were pooled with other mortgages into special-purpose, investment 

trusts that issue securities backed by the mortgage loans.   

17.   In the typical securitization transaction, legal responsibility for managing the 

individual mortgage accounts—including the collection of payments, communicating with 

borrowers and, if necessary, instituting foreclosure proceedings—is assigned to a “servicer” 

which acts as the agent of the investment trust which owns the loans. The servicer’s rights and 
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responsibilities are set forth in the contractual documents underlying particular securitizations, 

principally in a multi-party contract called a “pooling and servicing agreement,” or PSA.  

18. Under these PSA’s, it is the servicer that bills the borrowers and collects the 

interest and principal payments from them.   

19. Servicers have four main sources of income with regard to a particular pool of 

securitized mortgages, including: 

 a monthly “servicing fee,” which is a fixed percentage of the aggregate, unpaid 

principal balance of all the loans in the pool; 

 late charges and other fees charged to borrowers in default; 

 float income from the interest earned on funds held for the trust; and 

 investment income from interests owned by the servicer itself in the securities 

issued by the investment trust. 

 

B. The Origin of Nationstar’s Overstatement of Mortgage Balances 

20.  Wilshire was one of the nation’s largest servicers of subprime mortgage loans.   

21. In 2004, Wilshire was acquired by Merrill Lynch and continued to operate much as it 

had before. 

22. In January 2009, Bank of America acquired Merrill Lynch, which was facing 

insolvency.  The acquisition included Wilshire. 

23. Following its acquisition of Merrill Lynch, Bank of America, or one of its 

subsidiaries, assumed the servicing rights for Wilshire’s mortgage loan portfolio in or around 

February 2010. 

24. At the time Bank of America assumed servicing of Wilshire’s mortgage loan 

portfolio, thousands of loans in Wilshire’s portfolio were deemed to be in default. 

25. Subsequent to assuming the servicing of Wilshire’s portfolio, Bank of America failed 

to credit payments both it and Wilshire had received from borrowers whom Wilshire (and 

subsequently Bank of America) deemed to be in default. 
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26. As a result, likely many millions of dollars in payments made by mortgage borrowers 

to Wilshire and Bank of America were never credited to borrowers’ accounts.  This caused Wilshire 

and Bank of America to overstate the outstanding balances of mortgage accounts in the monthly 

statements they sent to mortgage borrowers and on annual tax and interest statements, as well as on 

credit reports and other communications with borrowers. 

27. In 2013 and 2014, Bank of America transferred the servicing rights to thousands of 

loans which had previously been serviced by Wilshire and had been deemed in default while 

serviced by Wilshire. 

28. A large number of these loans were ultimately transferred to Nationstar for servicing, 

while the loans were deemed to be in default. 

29. Nationstar has never corrected the outstanding mortgage balances on these loans to 

credit payments made by borrowers to Wilshire and Bank of America. 

30. As a result, Nationstar has continuously overstated the outstanding balances of in the 

monthly statements it sends to mortgage borrowers and on annual tax and interest statements, as well 

as on credit reports and other communications with borrowers. 

C. The Servicing of Plaintiffs’ Mortgage Loans 

31. Donald and Maria Hall entered into a mortgage loan in or around 2005 which was 

subsequently serviced by Wilshire. 

32. At some point while servicing the Halls’ mortgage loan, Wilshire deemed the Halls to 

be in default on their mortgage loan. 

33. After Wilshire deemed the Halls to be in default, the Halls entered into a trial period 

plan (“TPP”) with Wilshire, pursuant to the federal government’s Home Affordable Modification 

Program (“HAMP”). 
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34. Under their TPP with Wilshire, the Halls agreed to make three trial payments in the 

amount of $2,512.06, during the months of October, November, and December of 2009. 

35. The Halls timely made these payments in full but the payments were never credited to 

the Halls’ mortgage loan account.  As evidence that these payments were made in full, Wilshire sent 

the Halls a confirming letter, attached hereto as Ex. A.  

36. The attached excerpts from the Halls’ credit reports, attached hereto as Exhibit B, 

shows that Wilshire failed to credit the Halls’ TPP payments, i.e. no payments for the months of 

October, November, and December of 2009 are reflected on the credit reports. 

37. In or around February 2010, Wilshire transferred the servicing of the Halls’ 

mortgage loan to Bank of America. 

38. Following this transfer of servicing to Bank of America, the Halls continued 

making payments in the amount of $2,512.06 during 2010, believing that they would receive a 

permanent modification of their loan under HAMP. 

39. Like Wilshire, Bank of America failed to credit many of these payments to the 

Halls’ mortgage loan account.   

40. The attached excerpts from the Halls’ credit reports, attached hereto as Exhibit C, 

show that Bank of America failed to credit payments the Halls made to Bank of America during 

2010. 

41. Bank of America ultimately denied the Halls for a permanent modification, despite 

Wilshire’s promise to issue one.   

42.  At some point after denying the Halls for a permanent modification, Bank of 

America refused to accept any further mortgage payments from the Halls. 
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43. In or around January 2013, Bank of America transferred the servicing of the 

Halls’ mortgage loan to SPS, Inc.  SPS did not correct either Wilshire’s or Bank of America’s 

failures to properly credit mortgage payments to the Halls’ mortgage loan account. 

44. In or around May 2014, SPS transferred the servicing of the Halls’ mortgage loan 

to Nationstar.  SPS deemed the Halls loan to be in default at the time of transfer to Nationstar. 

45. Nationstar has not corrected either Wilshire’s or Bank of America’s failures to 

properly credit mortgage payments to the Halls’ mortgage loan account. 

46. As a result, Nationstar continues to overstate mortgage loan account balances in the 

monthly statements it sends to mortgage borrowers and on annual tax and interest statements, as well 

as on credit reports and other communications with borrowers. 

D. Facts Pertaining to the Class 

47. Upon information and belief, thousands of Class members’ mortgage loans were 

serviced by Wilshire while Wilshire deemed these loans to be in default.  These loans were 

subsequently serviced by Bank of America and Nationstar. 

48. Wilshire’s servicing systems failed to credit payments made by borrowers who 

Wilshire deemed to be in default.  On information and belief, these payments were either wholly 

unrecorded or placed in “suspense accounts” and never applied to the balance of Plaintiffs’ and 

Class members’ mortgage loan accounts. 

49. After assuming the servicing rights to Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ mortgage 

loans, Bank of America continued Wilshire’s practice of failing to credit payments made by 

Plaintiffs and Class members. 
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50. Bank of America subsequently transferred the rights to service Plaintiffs’ and 

Class Members’ mortgage loan accounts and all of these loans were subsequently serviced by 

Nationstar. 

51. Neither other prior servicers who handled servicing of the loans subsequent to 

Bank of America nor Nationstar have taken steps to correct Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ 

mortgage loan account balances to reflect all mortgage payments made. 

52. Indeed, Nationstar continues to overstate mortgage loan account balances in the 

monthly statements it sends to mortgage borrowers and on annual tax and interest statements, as well 

as on credit reports and other communications with borrowers. 

VI.  Class Action Allegations 

53.  Plaintiffs bring this action individually and as a Class action, pursuant to Rules 

23(a) and 23(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of the following class 

(“Class”) of persons:  

All individuals whose mortgage loans were:  (1) transferred for servicing 

to Nationstar while the loans were deemed to be in default, and (2) had 

previously been serviced by Wilshire and Bank of America while the 

loans were deemed to be in default. 

 

54. The following persons or entities are excluded from the proposed Classes: (a) 

Defendants and their counsel, officers, directors, management, employees, subsidiaries, or 

affiliates; (b) all governmental entities; and (c) the judges in this case and any members of their 

immediate families. 

55. The Class is so numerous as to make it impracticable to bring all members before 

the Court.  Plaintiff believes that thousands, perhaps tens of thousands, of mortgage loan 

borrowers are members of the Class.  The exact number of Class members is unknown but can 

be determined from records maintained by the Defendant.  In many instances, such persons are 
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unaware that claims exist on their behalf.  If the Class members have knowledge of their claims, 

their damages are in such amounts that when taken individually are too small to justify the 

expense of a separate lawsuit. However, on a class-wide basis, the total damages are in an 

amount that makes litigation financially feasible. 

56. There are common questions of law or fact that affect the rights of each member 

of the Class.  The predominating common questions of fact or law include, but are not limited to, 

the following: 

a. Have all payments made by Class members been credited to their mortgage 

loan accounts? 

b. Did Defendant’s actions violate the FDCPA? 

c. Was Defendant unjustly enriched by its conduct? 

57.    The claims of the representative plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Class 

because Plaintiffs’ mortgage loan was: serviced by Wilshire while Wilshire deemed the loan to 

be in default, was subsequently transferred to Bank of America for servicing while the loan was 

deemed to be in default, and was subsequently transferred to Nationstar for servicing while the 

loan was deemed to be in default. 

58. The representative plaintiffs will assure the adequate representation of all 

members of the Class and have no conflicts with Class members in the maintenance of this class 

action.  The Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class.   

59. Plaintiffs have retained counsel who are experienced in litigating class actions, 

have handled many class actions in state and federal courts and will adequately represent the 

interests of the Class. 
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60. Questions of law and fact common to Class members predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual members. 

61.  A class action is the superior method of fairly and efficiently adjudicating this 

controversy. 

VII. Causes Of Action 

COUNT I  

 

 (Violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§1692e and 1692f on Behalf of the Class) 

 

62. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein. 

63. Plaintiffs and members of the Class are “consumers” within the meaning of 

section 1692a(3) of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), 

because they are natural persons obligated to pay the residential mortgage accounts at issue in 

this case.  

64. The residential mortgage accounts at issue in this case are “debts” within the 

meaning of section 1692a(5) of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 

1692a(5), because they were entered into by Plaintiffs and members of the Class primarily for 

personal, family, or household purposes. 

65. With regard to the residential mortgage loans of Plaintiffs and members of the 

Class, Defendant is a “debt collector” within the meaning of section 1692a(6) of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(6), because Defendant acquired the servicing rights to these loans while they 

were deemed to be in default. 

66. As a result of not crediting payments made by Plaintiffs and Class members, 

Defendant continually overstated the outstanding mortgage balances on communications with 
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Plaintiffs and Class members, including on monthly mortgage statements and on annual tax and 

interest statements.  These actions are false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means in 

connection with the collection of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ mortgage loans.  These actions 

are also unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect Plaintiffs’ and Class 

members’ mortgage loans.  As a result, Defendant violated sections 1692e and 1692f of the 

FDCPA, respectively. 

67. As a result of the foregoing violations of the FDCPA, Defendant is liable to 

Plaintiffs and Class members for actual damages, including for emotional distress, statutory 

damages up to $1,000 individually, attorneys’ fees, and costs. 

COUNT II 

(Unjust Enrichment on Behalf of the Class) 

 

68.  Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein. 

69. As a mortgage servicer, Nationstar derives fees which are based on the total 

unpaid balances of the mortgage loans which it services.  These fees increase, as the total unpaid 

balances of serviced loans increase. 

70. By failing to credit mortgage payments made by Plaintiffs and Class members on 

their mortgage loan accounts, Nationstar has derived increased servicing fee income. 

71. Because this increased servicing fee income was wrongfully obtained by failing to 

properly credit Plaintiffs’ and Class members mortgage payments, it would be unjust to allow 

Nationstar to retain it. 

72. Under the doctrine of unjust enrichment, Nationstar is liable to Plaintiffs and 

Class members for the increased servicing fee income it derived from failing to credit Plaintiffs’ 
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and Class members’ mortgage payments.  

COUNT III 

(Breach of Contract on behalf of the Halls Individually) 

 

73. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein. 

74. The HAMP TPP agreement entered into by Wilshire with the Halls constituted a 

contract. 

75. Wilshire, as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, admitted that the Halls had fully 

complied with their obligations under the TPP and were entitled to a permanent modification, 

pursuant to HAMP. 

76. Wilshire breached its TPP contract with the Halls by failing to issue them a 

permanent modification. 

77. As a successor servicer to Wilshire, Nationstar is bound to honor the TPP contract 

with the Halls but has not done so. 

78. The Halls have been damaged by Wilshire and Nationstar’s breach of the TPP 

contract. 

VIII. Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that relief be granted as set forth above and 

also as follows: 

(a)   An Order certifying and directing notice to the Class identified, pursuant to Rule 23 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; 

(b)  An Order appointing Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs’ counsel to represent the Class; 

(c)  An Order directing Defendant to properly credit mortgage payments made by 
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